CORNERSTONES of Cost Management

4e



Copyright 2018 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203

Cornerstones

Cornerstones for Chapter 2

- 2.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Prime Cost, Conversion Cost, Variable Product Cost, and Total Product Cost, page 41
- 2.2 The HOW and WHY of Preparing the Statement of Cost of Goods Manufactured, page 44
- 2.3 The HOW and WHY of Preparing the Statement of Cost of Goods Sold, page 45
- 2.4 The HOW and WHY of Preparing the Income Statement for a Manufacturing Firm, page 46

Cornerstones for Chapter 3

- 3.1 The HOW and WHY of Forming an Equation to Describe Mixed Cost, page 82
- 3.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Activity Availability, Capacity Used, and Unused Capacity, page 88
- 3.3 The HOW and WHY of Using Account Analysis to Determine Fixed and Variable Costs, page 90
- 3.4 The HOW and WHY of Using the High-Low Method to Determine Fixed Cost and Variable Rate, page 93
- 3.5 The HOW and WHY of Using the Regression Results for Fixed Cost and Variable Rate to Construct and Use a Cost Formula, page 102
- 3.6 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Cost Equation Using the Results from Multiple Regression, page 108
- 3.7 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Cumulative Average-Time Learning Curve, page 110

Cornerstones for Chapter 4

- 4.1 The HOW and WHY of Applied Overhead and Unit Overhead Cost: Plantwide Rates, page 144
- 4.2 The HOW and WHY of Overhead Variances and Their Disposal, page 147
- 4.3 The HOW and WHY of Departmental Overhead Rates, page 148
- 4.4 The HOW and WHY of Consumption Ratios, page 153
- 4.5 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Costing, page 155
- 4.6 The HOW and WHY of Assigning Resource Costs to Activities, page 163
- 4.7 The HOW and WHY of TDABC, page 168
- 4.8 The HOW and WHY of DBC, page 171
- 4.9 The HOW and WHY of Approximately Relevant ABC Systems, page 175
- 4.10 The HOW and WHY of Equally Accurate Reduced ABC Systems, page 177

Cornerstones for Chapter 5

- 5.1 The HOW and WHY of Setting Up a Simplified Job-Order Cost Sheet, page 226
- 5.2 The HOW and WHY of Using a Job-Order Cost Sheet to Determine the Balances of Work in Process, Finished Goods, and Cost of Goods Sold, page 233
- 5.3 The HOW and WHY of Using Activity-Based Costing in Job-Order Costing, page 237
- 5.4 The HOW and WHY of Accounting for Normal and Abnormal Spoilage in a Job-Order Environment, page 239

Cornerstones for Chapter 6

- 6.1 The HOW and WHY of Cost Flows: Process Costing, page 265
- 6.2 The HOW and WHY of Process Costing: Services with No WIP Inventories, page 268
- 6.3 The HOW and WHY of Physical Flow Analysis and Equivalent Units: EWIP Only, page 271
- 6.4 The HOW and WHY of Unit Cost, Inventory Valuation, and Cost Reconciliation: EWIP Only, page 272
- 6.5 The HOW and WHY of a Production Report, page 274
- 6.6 The HOW and WHY of Equivalent Units and Unit Costs with Nonuniform Inputs, page 275
- 6.7 The HOW and WHY of Physical Flow Analysis and Equivalent Units: FIFO Method, page 278
- 6.8 The HOW and WHY of Unit Cost and Cost Assignment: FIFO, page 280
- 6.9 The HOW and WHY of Physical Flow Analysis and Equivalent Units: Weighted Average Method, page 283
- 6.10 The HOW and WHY of Unit Cost and Cost Assignment: Weighted Average Method, page 285

Cornerstones for Chapter 7

- 7.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating and Using a Single Charging Rate, page 326
- 7.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating and Using Multiple Charging Rates, page 329
- 7.3 The HOW and WHY of Allocating Support Department Costs to Producing Departments Using the Direct Method, page 336
- 7.4 The HOW and WHY of Allocating Support Department Costs to Producing Departments Using the Sequential (Step) Method, page 339
- 7.5 The HOW and WHY of Allocating Support Department Costs to Producing Departments Using the Reciprocal Method, page 341
- 7.6 The HOW and WHY of Using Allocated Support Department Costs to Calculate Departmental Overhead Rates, page 344
- 7.7 The HOW and WHY of Using the Physical Units Method to Allocate Joint Product Costs, page 349
- 7.8 The HOW and WHY of Using the Weighted Average Method to Allocate Joint Product Costs, page 351
- 7.9 The HOW and WHY of Using the Sales-Value-at-Split-Off Method to Allocate Joint Product Costs, page 353
- 7.10 The HOW and WHY of Using the Net Realizable Value Method to Allocate Joint Product Costs, page 355
- 7.11 The HOW and WHY of Using the Constant Gross Margin Percentage Method to Allocate Joint Product Costs, page 356

Cornerstones for Chapter 8

- 8.1 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Sales Budget, page 390
- 8.2 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Production Budget, page 391
- 8.3 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Direct Materials Purchases Budget, page 393
- 8.4 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Direct Labor Budget, page 395
- 8.5 The HOW and WHY of Constructing an Overhead Budget, page 396

- 8.6 The HOW and WHY of Preparing the Ending Finished Goods Inventory Budget, page 397
- 8.7 The HOW and WHY of Preparing the Cost of Goods Sold Budget, page 398
- 8.8 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Marketing Expense Budget, page 399
- 8.9 The HOW and WHY of Constructing an Administrative Expense Budget, page 401
- 8.10 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Budgeted Income Statement, page 402
- 8.11 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Cash Receipts Budget with an Accounts Receivable Aging Schedule, page 405
- 8.12 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Cash Budget, page 407
- 8.13 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Flexible Budget for Varying Levels of Activity, page 414
- 8.14 The HOW and WHY of Constructing a Flexible Budget for the Actual Level of Activity, page 416

Cornerstones for Chapter 9

- 9.1 The HOW and WHY of Computing Standard Quantities Allowed (SQ and SH), page 458
- 9.2 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Direct Materials Price Variance (MPV) and Direct Materials Usage Variance (MUV), page 460
- 9.3 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Direct Labor Rate Variance (LRV) and Direct Labor Efficiency Variance (LEV), page 465
- 9.4 The HOW and WHY of Using Control Limits to Determine When to Investigate a Variance, page 468
- 9.5 The HOW and WHY of Closing the Balances in the Variance Accounts at the End of the Year, page 471
- 9.6 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Total Variable Overhead Variance, page 473
- 9.7 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Variable Overhead Spending Variance and the Variable Overhead Efficiency Variance, page 475
- 9.8 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Fixed Overhead Spending Variance and the Fixed Overhead Volume Variance, page 480
- 9.9 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Mix Variance, page 486
- 9.10 The HOW and WHY of Computing the Yield Variance, page 487

Cornerstones for Chapter 10

- 10.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Average Operating Assets, Margin, Turnover, and Return on Investment (ROI), page 521
- 10.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Residual Income, page 526
- 10.3 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Weighted Average Cost of Capital and EVA, page 530
- 10.4 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Market-Based and Negotiated Transfer Prices, page 545
- 10.5 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Cost-Based Transfer Prices, page 547
- 10.6 The HOW and WHY of Using the Comparable Uncontrolled Price Method and the Resale Price Method in Calculating Transfer Prices, page 550

Cornerstones for Chapter 11

- 11.1 The HOW and WHY of Exploiting Internal Linkages to Reduce Costs and Increase Value, page 587
- 11.2 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Supplier Costing, page 591
- 11.3 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Customer Costing, page 594
- 11.4 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Life-Cycle Cost Reduction, page 600
- 11.5 The HOW and WHY of Backflush Costing, page 611

Cornerstones for Chapter 12

- 12.1 The HOW and WHY of Value- and Non-Value-Added Cost Reporting, page 651
- 12.2 The HOW and WHY of Non-Value-Added Cost Trend Reporting, page 652
- 12.3 The HOW and WHY of Kaizen Costing, page 655
- 12.4 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Flexible Budgeting, page 659
- 12.5 The HOW and WHY of Activity Capacity Management, page 661

Cornerstones for Chapter 13

- 13.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Cycle Time and Velocity, page 702
- 13.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Manufacturing Cycle Efficiency (MCE), page 703
- 13.3 The HOW and WHY of Strategy Mapping, page 708

Cornerstones for Chapter 14

- 14.1 The HOW and WHY of Preparing a Quality Cost Report, page 733
- 14.2 The HOW and WHY of Preparing Interim Quality Performance Reports, page 742
- 14.3 The HOW and WHY of Multiple-Period Quality Trend Reporting, page 744
- 14.4 The HOW and WHY of Long-Range Quality Performance Reporting, page 747
- 14.5 The HOW and WHY of an Environmental Cost Report, page 753
- 14.6 The HOW and WHY of Activity-Based Environmental Cost Assignments, page 758

Cornerstones for Chapter 15

- 15.1 The HOW and WHY of Cellular Manufacturing, page 795
- 15.2 The HOW and WHY of Value-Stream Product Costing, page 801
- 15.3 The HOW and WHY of Profile Productivity Measurement, page 809
- 15.4 The HOW and WHY of Profit-Linked Productivity Measurement, page 812

Cornerstones for Chapter 16

- 16.1 The HOW and WHY of Basic Cost Calculations and the Contribution-Margin-Based Income Statement, page 837
- 16.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Units Needed to Break Even and to Achieve a Target Profit, page 839

- 16.3 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Revenue for Break-Even and for a Target Profit, page 843
- 16.4 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Number of Units to Generate an After-Tax Target Profit, page 845
- 16.5 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Break-Even Number of Units in a Multiproduct Firm, page 849
- 16.6 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Margin of Safety, page 858
- 16.7 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Degree of Operating Leverage and Percent Change in Profit, page 860

Cornerstones for Chapter 17

- 17.1 The HOW and WHY of Structuring a Make-or-Buy Decision, page 901
- 17.2 The HOW and WHY of Structuring a Keep-or-Drop Product Line Decision, page 905
- 17.3 The HOW and WHY of Structuring a Special-Order Decision, page 908
- 17.4 The HOW and WHY of Structuring a Sell at Split-Off or Process Further Decision, page 911

Cornerstones for Chapter 18

- 18.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating a Markup on Cost, page 938
- 18.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Cost and Profit by Customer Class, page 944
- 18.3 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Inventory Cost and Preparing the Income Statement Using Absorption Costing, page 948
- 18.4 The HOW and WHY of Calculating Inventory Cost and Preparing the Income Statement Using Variable Costing, page 951
- 18.5 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Sales Price Variance, the Sales Volume Variance, and the Overall Sales Variance, page 958

- 18.6 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Contribution Margin Variance, page 959
- 18.7 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Contribution Margin Volume Variance, page 961
- 18.8 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Sales Mix Variance, page 962
- 18.9 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Market Share Variance and the Market Size Variance, page 964

Cornerstones for Chapter 19

- 19.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Payback Period, page 999
- 19.2 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Accounting Rate of Return, page 1002
- 19.3 The HOW and WHY of Analyzing NPV, page 1003
- 19.4 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the Internal Rate of Return, page 1005
- 19.5 The HOW and WHY of Determining NPV and IRR for Mutually Exclusive Projects, page 1009
- 19.6 The HOW and WHY of Calculating After-Tax Cash Flows, page 1013

Cornerstones for Chapter 20

- 20.1 The HOW and WHY of Calculating the EOQ, page 1048
- 20.2 The HOW and WHY of Reordering, page 1050
- 20.3 The HOW and WHY of Solving Constrained Optimization Problems with One Internal Constraint, page 1062
- 20.4 The HOW and WHY of Solving Linear Programming Problems with Two Variables, page 1064
- 20.5 The HOW and WHY of a Drum-Buffer-Rope System, page 1070

FOURTH EDITION CORNERSTONES OF COST MANAGEMENT

Don R. Hansen Professor Emeritus of Accounting, Oklahoma State University

Maryanne M. Mowen Professor of Accounting, Oklahoma State University



Australia • Brazil • Japan • Korea • Mexico • Singapore • Spain • United Kingdom • United States



Cornerstones of Cost Management, Fourth Edition Don R. Hansen, Maryanne M. Mowen

Sr. Vice President, General Manager, Social Science, Business, and Humanities: Erin Joyner

Executive Product Director: Mike Schenk

Product Manager: Matt Filimonov

Associate Content Developer: Brian Pierce

Product Assistant: Aiyana Moore

Marketing Director: Natalie King

Marketing Manager: Emily McLellan

Marketing Coordinator: Hillary Johns

Art and Cover Direction, Production Management, and Composition: Cenveo Publisher Services

Intellectual Property

Analyst: Brittani Morgan

Project Manager: Carly Belcher

Manufacturing Planner: Doug Wilke

Cover Image(s): Ultrashock/Shutterstock.com

© 2018, 2015 Cengage Learning

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. No part of this work covered by the copyright herein may be reproduced or distributed in any form or by any means, except as permitted by U.S. copyright law, without the prior written permission of the copyright owner.

For product information and technology assistance, contact us at Cengage Learning Customer & Sales Support, 1-800-354-9706

For permission to use material from this text or product, submit all requests online at **www.cengage.com/permissions** Further permissions questions can be emailed to **permissionrequest@cengage.com**

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016958545

ISBN 13: 978-1-305-97066-3

Cengage Learning

20 Channel Center Street Boston, MA 02210 USA

Cengage Learning is a leading provider of customized learning solutions with employees residing in nearly 40 different countries and sales in more than 125 countries around the world. Find your local representative at: www.cengage.com

Cengage Learning products are represented in Canada by Nelson Education, Ltd.

To learn more about Cengage Learning Solutions, visit **www.cengage.com** Purchase any of our products at your local college store or at our preferred online store **www.cengagebrain.com**

Printed in United States of America Print Number: 01 Print Year: 2016



BRIEF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1	Introduction to Cost Management	1
CHAPTER 2	Basic Cost Management Concepts	26
CHAPTER 3	Cost Behavior	76
CHAPTER 4	Activity-Based Costing	142
	INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES 207	
CHAPTER 5	Product and Service Costing: Job-Order System	211
CHAPTER 6	Process Costing	262
CHAPTER 7	Allocating Costs of Support Departments and Joint Products	320
CHAPTER 8	Budgeting for Planning and Control	383
CHAPTER 9	Standard Costing: A Functional-Based Control Approach	453
CHAPTER 10	Decentralization: Responsibility Accounting, Performance Evaluation, and Transfer Pricing	514
	INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES 574	
CHAPTER 11	Strategic Cost Management	579
CHAPTER 12	Activity-Based Management	643
CHAPTER 13	The Balanced Scorecard: Strategic-Based Control	691
CHAPTER 14	Quality and Environmental Cost Management	726
CHAPTER 15	Lean Accounting and Productivity Measurement	789
	INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES 830	
CHAPTER 16	Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis	834
CHAPTER 17	Activity Resource Usage Model and Tactical Decision Making	890
CHAPTER 18	Pricing and Profitability Analysis	935
CHAPTER 19	Capital Investment	997
CHAPTER 20	Inventory Management: Economic Order Quantity, JIT, and the Theory of Constraints	1045
	INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES 1088	
	Glossary	1091
	Check Figures	1103
	Index	1107



Close the Gap Between Homework and Exam Performance with CengageNOVv2.

We've talked with hundreds of accounting instructors across the country and we are learning that online homework systems have created a new challenge in the accounting course.

We are hearing that students perform well on the homework but poorly on the exam, which leads instructors to believe that students are not truly learning the content, rather memorizing their way through the system.



CengageNOWv2 better prepares students for the exam by providing an online homework experience that is similar to what students will experience on the exam and in the real-world.

Read on to see how CengageNOWv2 helps close this gap.

From Motivation to Mastery



MOTIVATION: Engage students and better prepare them for class.

Test Bank

The Test Bank has been updated for this edition of *Cornerstones of Cost Management* with a focus on evaluating the students' knowledge of topics fundamental accounting concepts.

Adaptive Study Plan

The Adaptive Study Plan is an assignable/ gradable study center that adapts to each student's unique needs and provides a remediation pathway to keep students progressing.



APPLICATION: Help students apply accounting concepts.

Excel Templates are problems focused on showing students how to apply concepts within the text to the real world.



MASTERY: Teach students to go beyond memorization to true understanding.

Mastery Problems are teaching problems that cover the primary learning objectives and help students understand the fundamental accounting concepts and their associated building blocks – not just memorizing the formulas.

Marine Strine in Peak Bran	ta bertat
Diptestorat	
Terses In star	102
A MALER CONTRACT OF A	10
Philippine County P	18.0
AND strange way a *	NO:
finite in the state of the	Her.
- Realized and the T	, HPh.
(Hening weeks #1)	165°
A state a same a second with t	1440
Information and	1000
(dramainer) * [10+1C
Call a sector mound of a	10



And that's not all...

You might also want to learn about the MindTap eReader, our LMS integration options, and more.

MindTap eReader

The MindTap eReader is the most robust digital reading experience available.

- Fully optimized for the iPad.
- Note-taking, highlighting, and more.
- Embedded digital media such as the Warren/Reeve/Duchac Dynamic Exhibits.

The MindTap eReader also features ReadSpeaker®, an online text-to-speech application that vocalizes, or "speechenables," online educational content.

LMS Integration

CengageNOWv2 can be seamlessly integrated with most Learning Management Systems. Adopters will enjoy:

- A Seamless User Experience Access your Cengage resources seamlessly using only your LMS login credentials.
- Simplified Registration Process Get students up and running faster!
- Content Customization and Deep Linking Use our Content Selector to create a unique learning path for students that blends your content with Cengage Learning activities, eText and more within your LMS course.
- Automatic Grade Synchronization* Need to have your course grades recorded in your LMS gradebook? No problem. Simply select the activities you want synched and grades will automatically be recorded in your LMS gradebook.

* Grade synchronization is currently available with Blackboard, Brightspace (powered by D2L), Angel 8 and Canvas.

ADA Accessibility

Cengage Learning is committed to making its educational materials accessible to users of all abilities. We are steadily working to increase accessibility and create a full spectrum of usable tools, features and choices that are accessible for users of all abilities. All new Cengage Learning products and services are designed with accessibility in mind.

- With the latest release of CengageNOWv2:
 - Images and graphics have been converted to HTML tables so that they can be read by screen readers.
 - The assignment experience now offers proper heading structure to support easy navigation with assistive technology.
- CengageNOW solutions offer high contrast and well-structured HTML, which helps support screen reader interactivity.
- All videos are created with closed captioning and transcripts available for download.
- The MindTap eReader is HTML-based and compatible with most screen reading assistive software. The eReader supports browser settings for high-contrast narrative text, variable font sizes, and multiple foreground and background color options.

For more information on accessibility, please visit www.cengage.com/accessibility.

IPAD Tablet Compatibility

CengageNOWv2 is fully compatible with the IPAD and other tablet devices.

CONTENTS



CHAPTER 1

Introduction to Cost Management	1
Financial Accounting versus Cost Management:	
A Systems Framework	1
Financial Accounting Information System	2
The Cost Management Information System	2
Different Systems for Different Purposes	3
Factors Affecting Cost Management	4
Global Competition	4
Growth of the Service Industry	4
Advances in Information Technology	5
Advances in the Manufacturing Environment	6
Theory of Constraints	6
Just-in-Time Manufacturing	6
Lean Manufacturing	7
Computer-Integrated Manufacturing	7
Customer Orientation	7
New Product Development	8
Sustainable Development	8
Total Quality Management	9
Time as a Competitive Element	9
Efficiency	10
The Role of the Management Accountant	10
Line and Staff Positions	10
The Controller	11
The Treasurer	11
Information for Planning, Controlling, Continuous	
Improvement, and Decision Making	12
Planning	12
Controlling	12
Continuous Improvement	13
Decision Making	13
Accounting and Ethical Conduct	13
Benefits of Ethical Behavior	13
Standards of Ethical Conduct for Management Accountants	14
Certification	14
The Certificate in Management Accounting	16
The Certificate in Public Accounting	16
The Certificate in Internal Auditing	16

CHAPTER 2

Basic Cost Management Concepts	26
A Systems Framework	27
Accounting Information Systems	27

Financial Accounting Information System	29
The Cost Management Information System	29
Relationship to Other Operational Systems and Functions	31
Different Systems for Different Purposes	32
Cost Assignment: Direct Tracing, Driver Tracing,	
and Allocation	33
Cost Objects	33
Accuracy of Cost Assignments	34
Traceability	34
Methods of Tracing	35
Assigning Indirect Costs	35
Cost Assignment Summarized	35
Product and Service Costs	36
Different Costs for Different Purposes	38
Product Costs and External Financial Reporting	38
Direct Materials	39
Direct Labor	39
Overhead	39
Prime and Conversion Costs	40
Nonproduction Costs	42
External Financial Statements	43
Income Statement: Manufacturing Firm	43
Cost of Goods Manufactured	43
Cost of Goods Sold	45
Income Statement: Service Organization	48
Traditional and Activity-Based	
Cost Management Systems	48
Traditional Cost Management Systems: A Brief Overview	49
Traditional Cost Accounting	49
Traditional Cost Control	49
Activity-Based Cost Management Systems: A Brief	
Overview	49
Activity-Based Cost Accounting	50
Activity-Based Cost Control	50
Choice of a Cost Management System	52

CHAPTER 3

Cost Behavior	76
Basics of Cost Behavior	77
Cost Objects	77
Measures of Output	77
Fixed Costs	78
Variable Costs	79
Linearity Assumption	81
Mixed Costs	81

Time Horizon	83
Resources, Activities, and Cost Behavior	84
Flexible Resources	84
Committed Resources	85
Implications for Control and Decision Making	86
Step-Cost Behavior	86
Step-Variable Costs	86
Step-Fixed Costs	86
Activities and Mixed Cost Behavior	89
What the Accounting Records Reveal	89
Need for Cost Separation	89
Methods of Determining Cost Behavior	89
Quantitative Methods for Separating Mixed Costs	
into Fixed and Variable Components	92
The High-Low Method	94
Scatterplot Method	95
The Method of Least Squares	98
Using Regression Programs	100
Reliability of Cost Formulas	103
Hypothesis Test of Parameters	103
Goodness of Fit Measures	103
Coefficient of Correlation	104
Standard Errors	104
Multiple Regression	106
The Learning Curve and Nonlinear Cost Behavior	109
Cumulative Average-Time Learning Curve	110
Incremental Unit-Time Learning Curve	114
Managerial Judgment	114

Activity-Based	Costing	142
----------------	---------	-----

Unit-Level Product Costing	143
Overhead Assignment: Plantwide Rates	144
Calculation and Disposition of Overhead Variances	146
Overhead Application: Departmental Rates	146
Limitations of Plantwide and Departmental Rates	150
Non-Unit-Related Overhead Costs	150
Product Diversity	150
The Failure of Unit-Based Overhead Rates	151
Unit Cost Computation: Plantwide and Departmental	
Overhead Rates	152
Problems with Costing Accuracy	152
Activity Rates: A Better Approach	154
Comparison of Different Product-Costing Methods	156
ABC Users	157
Activity-Based Costing System	157
Activity Identification, Definition, and Classification	158
Activity Definition	159
Activity Classification	159
Gathering the Necessary Data	160

Illustrative Example	160
Activity Dictionary	161
Assigning Costs to Activities	161
Cost Objects and Bills of Activities	165
Activity Rates and Product Costing	166
Classifying Activities	166
Reducing the Size and Complexity of an ABC System	167
Before-the-Fact Simplification: TDABC	167
Model Updating	169
Measuring Unused Capacity	169
Time Equations	170
Duration-Based Costing (DBC)	170
After-the-Fact Simplification	173
Approximately Relevant ABC Systems	174
Equally Accurate Reduced ABC Systems	176
INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES	207

CHAPTER 5

Product and Service Costing: Job-Order System

stem	2 11
------	-------------

Characteristics of the Production Process	211
Manufacturing Firms versus Service Firms	212
Unique versus Standardized Products and Services	215
Setting Up the Cost Accounting System	216
Cost Accumulation	216
Cost Measurement	217
Actual versus Normal Costing	218
Cost Assignment	218
Importance of Unit Costs to Manufacturing Firms	219
Importance of Unit Costs to Nonmanufacturing Firms	219
Production of Unit Cost Information	219
Choosing the Activity Level	221
The Job-Order Costing System: General Description	222
Overview of the Job-Order Costing System	222
Materials Requisitions	223
Job Time Tickets	224
Overhead Application	225
Unit Cost Calculation	225
Job-Order Costing: Specific Cost Flow Description	227
Accounting for Direct Materials	227
Accounting for Direct Labor Cost	228
Accounting for Overhead	229
Accounting for Overhead Application	229
Accounting for Actual Overhead Costs	229
Accounting for Finished Goods Inventory	231
Accounting for Cost of Goods Sold	233
Accounting for Nonmanufacturing Costs	235
Job-Order Costing with Activity-Based Costing	237
Accounting for Spoiled Units in a Traditional	
Job-Order Costing System	239

Process Costing

0	
Basic Operational and Cost Concepts	262
Cost Flows	263
The Production Report	266
Unit Costs	267
Process Costing with No Work-In-Process	
Inventories	267
Service Organizations	268
JIT Manufacturing Firms	269
The Role of Activity-Based Costing	269
Process Costing with Ending Work-In-Process	
Inventories	269
Physical Flow and Equivalent Units	270
Calculating Unit Costs, Assigning Costs to Inventories,	
and Reconciliation	272
The Five Steps of the Production Report	273
Nonuniform Application of Productive Inputs	275
Beginning Work-in-Process Inventories	277
FIFO Costing Method	278
Step 4 of FIFO Revisited	281
Production Report and Journal Entries	281
Weighted Average Costing Method	283
Production Report	286
FIFO Compared with Weighted Average	286
Treatment of Transferred-In Goods	288
Step 1: Physical Flow Schedule	289
Step 2: Calculation of Equivalent Units	290
Step 3: Computation of Unit Costs	290
Step 4: Valuation of Inventories	290
Operation Costing	290
Basics of Operation Costing	292
Operation Costing Example	293

CHAPTER 7

Allocating Costs of Support Departments and Joint Products

320
321
323
324
326
326
328
328
328
330
331
332

262

Choosing a Support Department Cost Allocation	
Method	334
Direct Method of Allocation	335
Sequential Method of Allocation	337
Reciprocal Method of Allocation	340
Total Cost of Support Departments	340
Comparison of the Three Methods	343
Departmental Overhead Rates and	
Product Costing	344
Support Department Cost Allocation Benefits	345
Accounting for Joint Production Processes	346
Cost Separability and the Need for Allocation	347
Accounting for Joint Product Costs	348
Physical Units Method	348
Weighted Average Method	350
Allocation Based on Relative Market Value	352
Sales-Value-at-Split-Off Method	352
Net Realizable Value Method	354
Constant Gross Margin Percentage Method	356
Accounting for By-Products	358
Treatment of the By-Product as Other Revenue	359
Treatment of the By-Product as a Reduction in the	
Cost of the Main Products	359
Ethical Implications of Cost Allocation	359

CHAPTER 8

Budgeting for Planning and Control 383 The Role of Budgeting in Planning and Control 383 Purposes of Budgeting 384 The Budgeting Process 385 Directing and Coordinating 385 Types of Budgets 385 Gathering Information for Budgeting 387 Forecasting Sales 387 Forecasting Other Variables 388 389 Preparing the Operating Budget Sales Budget 389 **Production Budget** 389 Direct Materials Purchases Budget 392 Direct Labor Budget 394 **Overhead Budget** 396 Ending Finished Goods Inventory Budget 396 398 Cost of Goods Sold Budget Marketing Expense Budget 399 Administrative Expense Budget 400 Additional Operating Budgets 400 **Budgeted Income Statement** 402 Operating Budgets for Merchandising and Service Firms 403 404 Preparing the Financial Budget The Cash Budget 404 Components of the Cash Budget 404

ix

320

Budgeted Balance Sheet	409
Shortcomings of the Traditional Master Budget Process	410
Departmental Orientation	410
Static Rather than Dynamic Budgets	411
Results Orientation	412
Flexible Budgets for Planning and Control	412
Static Budgets versus Flexible Budgets	413
Static Budgets	413
Flexible Budgets	414
Activity-Based Budgets	418
The Behavioral Dimension of Budgeting	422
Characteristics of a Good Budgetary System	422
Frequent Feedback on Performance	423
Monetary and Nonmonetary Incentives	423
Participative Budgeting	423
Realistic Standards	424
Controllability of Costs	425
Multiple Measures of Performance	426

Standard Costing: A Functional-Based Control Approach 453

Developing Unit Input Standards	454
Establishing Standards	454
Kaizen Standards	454
Standards and Activity-Based Costing	455
Usage of Standard Costing Systems	455
Cost Management	455
Planning and Control	455
Decision Making and Product Costing	455
Standard Cost Sheets	457
Variance Analysis and Accounting: Direct	
Materials and Direct Labor	459
Calculating the Direct Materials Price Variance and	
Direct Materials Usage Variance	459
Timing of the Price Variance Computation	462
Timing of the Direct Materials Usage Variance	
Computation	463
Accounting for Direct Materials Price and Usage	
Variances	464
Calculating Direct Labor Variances	464
Direct Labor Rate and Efficiency Variances: Formula	
Approach	466
Accounting for the Direct Labor Rate and Efficiency	
Variances	467
Investigating Direct Materials and Labor Variances	467
Responsibility for the Direct Materials Variances	469
Responsibility for the Direct Labor Variances	470
Disposition of Direct Materials and Direct Labor	
Variances	470
Variance Analysis: Overhead Costs	472
Four-Variance Method for Calculating Overhead	
Variances	473

Calculating the Variable Overhead Spending	
Variance and Variable Overhead Efficiency Variance	474
Interpreting the Variable Overhead Variances	476
Interpreting the Variable Overhead Spending Variance	476
Interpreting the Variable Overhead Efficiency	
Variance	478
Four-Variance Analysis: The Two Fixed Overhead	
Variances	479
Calculating the Fixed Overhead Spending Variance	
and Fixed Overhead Volume Variance	479
Interpreting the Fixed Overhead Variances	481
Interpreting the Fixed Overhead Spending Variance	481
Interpreting the Fixed Overhead Volume Variance	481
Accounting for Overhead Variances	482
Two- and Three-Variance Analysis Methods	483
Two-Variance Analysis	483
Three-Variance Analysis	484
Mix and Yield Variances: Materials and Labor	484
Direct Materials Mix Variance	485
Direct Materials Yield Variance	487
Direct Labor Mix and Yield Variances	488
Direct Labor Mix Variance	489
Direct Labor Yield Variance	489

CHAPTER 10

Decentralization: Responsibility Accounting, Performance Evaluation, and Transfer Pricing 514

Responsibility Accounting	514
Types of Responsibility Centers	515
The Role of Information and Accountability	515
Decentralization	516
Reasons for Decentralization	516
Better Access to Local Information	517
Cognitive Limitations	517
More Timely Response	517
Focusing of Central Management	518
Training and Evaluation of Segment Managers	518
Motivation of Segment Managers	518
Enhanced Competition	518
The Units of Decentralization	519
Measuring the Performance of Investment Centers	520
Return on Investment	521
Margin and Turnover	523
Advantages of the ROI Measure	524
Disadvantages of the ROI Measure	525
Residual Income	526
Advantages of Residual Income	527
Disadvantages of Residual Income	528
Economic Value Added	528
Calculating EVA	529
Behavioral Aspects of EVA	531
Multiple Measures of Performance	532

Measuring and Rewarding the Performance of	
Managers	533
Incentive Pay for Managers—Encouraging Goal	
Congruence	534
Managerial Rewards	534
Cash Compensation	534
Stock-Based Compensation	535
Issues to Consider in Structuring Income-Based	
Compensation	535
Noncash Compensation	536
Measuring Performance in the Multinational Firm	536
Comparison of Divisional ROI	537
Multiple Measures of Performance	538
Transfer Pricing	538
The Impact of Transfer Pricing on Income	538
Setting Transfer Prices	539
Market Price	540
Negotiated Transfer Prices	541
Example 1: Avoidable Distribution Costs	541
Example 2: Excess Capacity	542
Disadvantages of Negotiated Transfer Prices	543
Advantages of Negotiated Transfer Prices	545
Cost-Based Transfer Prices	546
Full-Cost Transfer Pricing	546
Full Cost Plus Markup	547
Variable Cost Plus Fixed Fee	547
Propriety of Use	547
Transfer Pricing and the Multinational Firm	548
INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES	574

Strategic Cost Management	579
Strategic Cost Management: Basic Concepts	580
Strategic Positioning: The Key to Creating and	
Sustaining a Competitive Advantage	580
Cost Leadership	581
Differentiation	581
Focusing	581
Strategic Positioning	581
Value-Chain Framework, Linkages, and Activities	582
Organizational Activities and Cost Drivers	584
Operational Activities and Drivers	585
Value-Chain Analysis	586
Exploiting Internal Linkages	586
Exploiting Supplier Linkages	589
Managing Procurement Costs Using Activity-Based	
Costing	590
Exploiting Customer Linkages	592
Managing Customer Costs	593
Life-Cycle Cost Management	595
Product Life-Cycle Viewpoints	595
Marketing Viewpoint	596

Production Viewpoint	596
Consumable Life-Cycle Viewpoint	597
Interactive Viewpoint	597
Relationships among Life-Cycle Viewpoints	597
Revenue Enhancement	599
Cost Reduction	599
Role of Target Costing	601
Supplier and Firm Interaction	603
Short Life Cycles	603
Just-in-Time (JIT) Manufacturing and Purchasing	603
Inventory Effects	604
Plant Layout	605
Grouping of Employees	606
Employee Empowerment	607
Total Quality Control	607
JIT and Its Effect on the Cost Management System	608
Traceability of Overhead Costs	608
Product Costing	609
JIT's Effect on Job-Order and Process-Costing Systems	610
Backflush Costing	610
Variations 1 and 2	610
Variations 3 and 4	611

CHAPTER 12

Activity-Based Management	nt 643
---------------------------	--------

The Relationship of Activity-Based Costing and	
Activity-Based Management	644
Process Value Analysis	645
Driver Analysis: Defining Root Causes	645
Activity Analysis: Identifying and Assessing	
Value Content	645
Value-Added Activities	646
Non-Value-Added Activities	646
Examples of Non-Value-Added Activities	647
Cost Reduction through Activity Management	648
Assessing Activity Performance	649
Financial Measures of Activity Efficiency	649
Reporting Value- and Non-Value-Added Costs	649
Trend Reporting of Non-Value-Added Costs	652
Drivers and Behavioral Effects	653
The Role of Kaizen Standards	654
Benchmarking	656
Internal Benchmarking	656
External Benchmarking	657
Activity Flexible Budgeting	657
Activity Capacity Management	660
Capacity Variances	661
Implementing Activity-Based Management	663
Discussion of the ABM Implementation Model	663
Systems Planning	663
Activity Identification, Definition, and Classification	665
Why ABM Implementations Fail	665

691

Financial-Based versus Activity-Based Responsibility	
Accounting	666
Assigning Responsibility	667
Establishing Performance Measures	668
Evaluating Performance	669
Assigning Rewards	669

CHAPTER 13

The Balanced Scorecard: Strategic-Based Control

Activity-Based versus Strategic-Based Responsibility	
Accounting	692
Assigning Responsibility	693
Establishing Performance Measures	693
Performance Measurement and Evaluation	695
Assigning Rewards	696
Basic Concepts of the Balanced Scorecard	696
Strategy Translation	696
The Financial Perspective, Objectives, and Measures	697
Revenue Growth	698
Cost Reduction	698
Asset Utilization	698
Risk Management	698
Customer Perspective, Objectives, and Measures	699
Core Objectives and Measures	699
Customer Value	699
Process Perspective, Objectives, and Measures	700
Innovation Process: Objectives and Measures	701
Operations Process: Objectives and Measures	701
Cycle Time and Velocity	701
Manufacturing Cycle Efficiency (MCE)	703
Post-Sales Service Process: Objectives and Measures	704
Learning and Growth Perspective	704
Employee Capabilities	704
Motivation, Empowerment, and Alignment	705
Information Systems Capabilities	706
Linking Measures to Strategy	706
The Concept of a Testable Strategy with Strategic	
Feedback	706
Strategic Alignment	709
Communicating the Strategy	709
Targets and Incentives	710
Resource Allocation	711

CHAPTER 14

Quality and Environmental Cost

Management	726
Costs of Quality	727
Quality Defined	728
Costs of Quality Defined	729

Quality Cost Measurement	730
The Multiplier Method	730
The Market Research Method	731
The Taguchi Quality Loss Function	731
Reporting Quality Costs	732
Optimal Distribution of Quality Costs: Zero-Defects	
with Robust Quality View	734
The Role of Activity-Based Cost Management	736
Quality Cost Information and Decision Making	736
Decision-Making Contexts	737
Strategic Pricing	737
Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis and Strategic Design	
Decisions	738
Certifying Quality Through ISO 9000	739
Controlling Quality Costs	740
Choosing the Quality Standard	740
The Total Quality Approach	740
Quantifying the Quality Standard	740
Physical Standards	741
Use of Interim Standards	741
Types of Quality Performance Reports	741
Interim Standard Report	741
Multiple-Period Trend Report	743
Long-Range Report	745
Incentives for Quality Improvement	746
Defining, Measuring, and Controlling Environmental	
Costs	749
The Ecoefficiency Paradigm	749
Environmental Costs Defined	752
Environmental Cost Report	752
Environmental Cost Reduction	755
An Environmental Financial Report	755
Environmental Costing	756
Environmental Product Costs	757
Activity-Based Environmental Cost Assignments	757

CHAPTER 15

Lean Accounting and Productivity Measurement

Lean Manufacturing	790
Value by Product	791
Value Stream	791
Value Flow	793
Reduced Setup/Changeover Times	794
Cellular Manufacturing	794
Pull Value	796
Pursue Perfection	797
Sources of Waste	797
Employee Empowerment	797
Total Quality Control	798
Inventories	798
Activity-Based Management	798

789

Lean Accounting	798
Focused Value Streams and Traceability of	
Overhead Costs	799
Limitations and Problems	800
Value-Stream Costing	800
Product Costing: Single-Product (Focused) Value	
Stream	800
Product Costing: Multiple-Product Value Stream	800
Value-Stream Reporting	802
Decision Making	803
Performance Measurement	804
Productive Efficiency	805
Partial Productivity Measurement Defined	806
Partial Measures and Measuring Changes in	
Productive Efficiency	807
Advantages of Partial Measures	808
Disadvantages of Partial Measures	808
Total Productivity Measurement	809
Profile Productivity Measurement	809
Profit-Linked Productivity Measurement	810
INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES	830

Cost-Volume-Profit Anal	ysis	834

The Break-Even Point and Target Profit in Units	
and Sales Revenue	835
Basic Concepts for CVP Analysis	836
The Equation Method for Break-Even and	
Target Income	839
Contribution Margin Approach	840
Break-Even Point and Target Income in Sales	
Revenue	841
Targeted Income as a Percent of Sales Revenue	844
Comparison of the Two Approaches	845
After-Tax Profit Targets	845
Multiple-Product Analysis	847
Break-Even Point in Units for the Multiple-Product	
Setting	847
Sales Mix	848
Sales Mix and CVP Analysis	849
Sales-Revenue Approach	851
Graphical Representation of CVP Relationships	852
The Profit-Volume Graph	852
The Cost-Volume-Profit Graph	853
Assumptions of Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis	854
Relevant Range	855
Production Equal to Sales	855
Constant Sales Mix	856
Prices and Costs Known with Certainty	856
Changes in the CVP Variables	856
Introducing Risk and Uncertainty	857
Margin of Safety	858

Operating Leverage	859
Sensitivity Analysis and CVP	861
CVP Analysis and Non-Unit Cost Drivers	863
Example Comparing Conventional and ABC Analysis	864
Strategic Implications: Conventional CVP Analysis	
Versus ABC Analysis	865
CVP Analysis and JIT	866
CVP Analysis, Multiple Drivers, and Nonprofit Entities	866

CHAPTER 17

Activity Resource Usage Model and Tactical Decision Making

Tactical Decision Making	891
The Tactical Decision-Making Process	891
Step 1: Define the Problem	891
Step 2: Identify Feasible Alternatives	892
Step 3: Predict Costs and Benefits and Eliminate	
Irrelevant Costs	892
Step 4: Compare Relevant Costs and Benefits	892
Step 5: Assess the Qualitative Factors	892
Step 6: Select the Best Alternative	892
Summary of Decision-Making Process	892
Qualitative Factors	894
Relevant Costs and Revenues	895
Relevant Costs Illustrated	895
Irrelevant Cost Illustrated	896
Past Costs	896
Future Costs	896
Relevant Costs and Benefits in International Trade	896
Foreign Trade Zones	896
Relevancy, Cost Behavior, and the Activity Resource	;
Usage Model	897
Flexible Resources	898
Committed Resources	898
Illustrative Examples of Tactical Decision Making	900
Make-or-Buy Decisions	900
Cost Analysis: Activity-Based Cost Management	
System	902
Keep-or-Drop Decisions	904
Special-Order Decisions	908
Decisions to Sell or Process Further	910
Relevant Costing and Ethical Behavior	912
Relevant Cost Analysis in Personal Decision Making	913

CHAPTER 18

Pricing and Profitability Analysis	935
Basic Pricing Concepts	935
Demand and Supply	936
Price Elasticity of Demand	936
Market Structure and Price	937

Cost and Pricing Policies	938
Cost-Based Pricing	938
Target Costing and Pricing	940
Other Pricing Policies	942
The Legal System and Pricing	942
Predatory Pricing	942
Price Discrimination	943
Measuring Profit	946
Reasons for Measuring Profit	946
Absorption-Costing Approach to Measuring Profit	948
Disadvantages of Absorption Costing	950
Variable-Costing Approach to Measuring Profit	951
Profitability of Segments and Divisions	954
Profit by Product Line	954
Divisional Profit	955
Overall Profit	956
Analysis of Profit-Related Variances	957
Sales Price and Sales Volume Variances	957
Contribution Margin Variance	959
Contribution Margin Volume Variance	960
Sales Mix Variance	962
Market Share and Market Size Variances	963
The Product Life Cycle	965
Limitations of Profit Measurement	968

Capital Investment

997

Capital Investment Decisions	998	
Payback and Accounting Rate of Return	,,,,	
Nondiscounting Methods	999	
Payback Period	999	
Accounting Rate of Return	1001	
The Net Present Value Method	1003	
Internal Rate of Return	1005	
NPV versus IRR: Mutually Exclusive Projects	1007	
NPV Compared with IRR	1007	
Computing After-Tax Cash Flows	1010	
Conversion of Gross Cash Flows to After-Tax		
Cash Flows	1011	
After-Tax Cash Flows: Year 0	1011	
After-Tax Operating Cash Flows: Life of the Project	1012	
MACRS Depreciation	1014	
After-Tax Cash Flows: Final Disposal	1015	
Capital Investment: Advanced Technology		
and Environmental Considerations		
How Investment Differs	1017	
How Estimates of Operating Cash Flows Differ	1018	
An Example: Investing in Advanced Technology	1018	
Salvage Value	1020	
Discount Rates	1021	

CHAPTER 20

Inventory Management: Economic Order Quantity, JIT, and the Theory of Constraints 1045

Just-in-Case Inventory Management	1046
Justifying Inventory	1046
Economic Order Quantity: A Model for Balancing	
Acquisition and Carrying Costs	1047
Minimizing Total Ordering and Carrying Costs	1048
When to Order or Produce	1050
An Example Involving Setups	1051
EOQ and Inventory Management	1052
JIT Inventory Management	1053
A Pull System	1054
Setup and Carrying Costs: The JIT/Lean Approach	1054
Long-Term Contracts, Continuous Replenishment,	
and Electronic Data Interchange	1054
Reducing Setup Times	1055
Due-Date Performance: The JIT (Lean) Solution	1055
Avoidance of Shutdown and Process Reliability:	
The JIT/Lean Approach	1056
Total Preventive Maintenance	1056
Total Quality Control	1056
The Kanban System	1057
Discounts and Price Increases: JIT Purchasing Versus	
Holding Inventories	1059
JIT's Limitations	1059
Basic Concepts of Constrained Optimization	1061
One Binding Internal Constraint	1061
Multiple Internal Binding Constraints	1063
Linear Programming	1063
Theory of Constraints	1066
Operational Measures	1066
Higher-Quality Products	1067
Lower Prices	1067
Improved Delivery Performance	1067
Five-Step Method for Improving Performance	1068
Step 1: Identify an Organization's Constraints	1068
Step 2: Exploit the Binding Constraints	1068
Step 3: Subordinate Everything Else to the Decisions	
Made in Step 2	1069
Step 4: Elevate the Organization's Binding Constraints	s 1070
Step 5: Repeat Process: Does a New Constraint Limit	
Throughput?	1071
INTEGRATIVE EXERCISES	1088
Glossary	1091
Check Figures	1103
Index	1107



ABOUT THE AUTHORS AND ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

- **Dr. Don R. Hansen** is Professor Emeritus of Oklahoma State University. He received his Ph.D. from the University of Arizona in 1977. He has an undergraduate degree in mathematics from Brigham Young University. He has published articles in both accounting and engineering journals including The Accounting Review, The Journal of Management Accounting Research, Accounting Organizations and Society, Accounting Horizons, and IIE Transactions. He has served on the editorial board of *The Accounting Review*. His outside interests include family, church activities, reading, movies, and watching sports.
- **Dr. Maryanne M. Mowen** is Associate Professor Emerita of Accounting at Oklahoma State University. She received her Ph.D. from Arizona State University. She brings an interdisciplinary perspective to teaching and writing in cost and management accounting, with degrees in history and economics. She has taught classes in ethics and the impact of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act on accountants. Her scholarly research is in the areas of management accounting, behavioral decision theory, and compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. She has published articles in journals such as *Decision Science*, *The Journal of Economics and Psychology*, and *The Journal of Management Accounting Research*. Dr. Mowen has served as a consultant to mid-sized and Fortune 100 companies and works with corporate controllers on management accounting issues. She has served as a counselor to SCORE in assisting small and start-up businesses. She enjoys hiking, traveling, reading mysteries, and working crossword puzzles.

We would like to thank the following reviewers for their feedback about digital assets for the fourth edition:

Michael Bohanon, Cleary University and Baker College Teresa Brown, Central New Mexico Community College Shannon Charles, University of Utah Jon Erickson, Utah State University Ronald Fory, University of North Texas at Dallas Gaurav Gupta, Pacific Lutheran University Vicki Jobst, Benedictine University Mehmet Kocakulah, University of Southern Indiana Ping Lin, California State U., Long Beach Li-Lin (Sunny) Liu, CSUDH Louella Moore, Washburn University Kathy Rankin, Chatham University Ann Reichle, Mid-Plains Community College Richelle, Finlandia University Anthony Ross, Concordia University Texas Perry Sellers, LSCS Steven Smith, Brigham Young University Lateef Syed, Robert Morris University, Illinois Cammy Wayne, Harper College

Special thanks to the following for verification and review of digital assets:

Gregory Sweet, California State University, Fullerton Larry Devan, Hood College Robert Holtfreter, Central Washington University Dr. Gloria McVay, Winona State University Dr. Edward R. Walker, University of Central Oklahoma



Two new themes have been woven into each chapter – Sustainability and Big Data. These are detailed in the chapter-by-chapter listing below.

All chapters have an End of Chapter segment with questions typical of questions used on professional certification exams. This will give students confidence in preparing for cost accounting material on the various certification exams.

Chapter 1: Introduction to Cost Management

- 1. Expanded the Advances in Information Technology Section with a section on Big Data.
- 2. Added a section on Sustainable Development.
- 3. Added a Real World Example (box) on sustainable development for a company that improved both environmental and economic performance.

Chapter 2: Basic Cost Management Concepts

- 1. Updated Real World Example box on McDonald's menu changes.
- 2. Added a Real World Example box on the role of cost accountants in using Big Data to effect business change.
- 3. Added a Real World Example box on the use of sustainable development by school districts to reduce energy consumption/cost without degrading the student/teacher experience.

Chapter 3: Cost Behavior

- Simplified exposition of standard errors and goodnessof-fit for students by removing section on calculation of confidence intervals. Emphasis is on conceptual use of goodness of fit rather than calculation of confidence intervals.
- 2. Added a Real World Example box on Sustainability and Big Data use by utility companies as they switch from analog to smart meters. This change has effected behavioral change by consumers as they gain increased understanding of energy usage.

Chapter 4: Activity-Based Costing

- 1. Added a Real World Example that illustrates how DHL used Big Data and ABC to improve its costing and pricing system.
- 2. Added a section and a new cornerstone on Duration Based Costing.

- 3. Added a new cornerstone exercise covering Duration-Based Costing (DBC) in the EOC materials.
- 4. Added a new exercise covering Duration-Based Costing (DBC)

Chapter 5: Product and Service Costing: Job-Order System

- 1. Added a Real World Example on using Big Data
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability as companies reduce resource use (raw materials, supplies, energy, or transportation/distribution) through the employment of additive manufacturing.

Chapter 6: Process Costing

1. Added a Real World Example on using Big Data to increase output for process manufacturing.

Chapter 7: Allocating Costs of Support Departments and Joint Products

- Added a Real World Example on using Big Data analysis to integrate data files across various support departments to reduce cost and improve customer service.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability by a meat processing plant that uses by-products to reduce waste and create energy.

Chapter 8: Budgeting for Planning and Control

- 1. Added a Real World Example on using Big Data from point of sale (POS) terminals to create data that are used for inventory management and to track customer preferences for budgeting.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability goals and budgeting done by 3M Corporation to develop and track goals reduce waste and improve energy efficiency.

Chapter 9: Standard Costing: A Functional-Based Control Approach

- 1. Added a Real World Example on the use of Big Data by the National Restaurant Association to develop an automated food waste monitoring system.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability in the restaurant industry. Food waste is a significant problem for this industry, standards are set to reduce waste and cost.

Chapter 10: Decentralization: Responsibility Accounting, Performance Evaluation, and Transfer Pricing

- 1. Added a Real World Example on using Big Data by professional golfers as they use data analytics of all shots taken on each PGA Tour event hole to determine the best approach to each shot.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability by P&G through its setting of objectives in four major areas of emphasis: preservation of resources, renewable resources, worth from waste, and social programs.

Chapter 11: Strategic Cost Management

1. Added a Real World Example for Big Data that shows its use facilitates the use of ABC to assess and increase customer profitability.

Chapter 12: Activity-Based Management

- 1. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability that illustrates how Dow Terneuzen used activity management to reduce costs and, at the same time, improve environmental performance.
- 2. Added a Real world example on how a steel company used Big Data to enhance its Kaizen efforts.

Chapter 13: The Balanced Scorecard: Strategic-Based Control

1. Added a Real World Example that illustrates that Royal Dutch Shell integrated sustainability objectives and measures into the traditional four perspectives.

Chapter 14: Quality and Environmental Cost Management

- 1. Added a Real World Example that describes five ways Big Data can impact quality management.
- 2. Updated winners of the Baldrige Award.

Chapter 15: Lean Accounting and Productivity Measurement

1. Added a Real World Example on Intel's use of Big Data to improve productivity and quality.

- 2. Updated list to reflect more recent Shingo Prize Recipients.
- 3. Added a reference to DBC as a method to use for Value-Stream Costing.

Chapter 16: Cost-Volume-Profit Analysis

- 1. Added a Real World Example on the use of Big Data by telecommunication firms to determine probability of service interruptions and use of bandwidth to forecast future needs.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability use by Best Buy, Inc., to determine the breakeven point in recycling of used electronics.

Chapter 17: Activity Resource Usage Model and Tactical Decision Making

- 1. Added a Real World Example on using Big Data and printing on demand technology to improve profitability of the corner bookstore.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability efforts by Ford as it increases the use of recycled, renewable, and lightweight materials in its vehicles.

Chapter 18: Pricing and Profitability Analysis

- 1. Added a Real World Example on the use of Big Data by large hotel chains to find and satisfy their most loyal, profitable customers.
- 2. Added a Real World Example on Sustainability and the importance of long-term costs and benefits in explaining pricing for home solar installations.

Chapter 19: Capital Investment

1. Added a Real World Example Box for Big Data that describes how its use can improve capital budgeting decisions.

Chapter 20: Inventory Management: Economic Order Quantity, JIT, and the Theory of Constraints

 Added a Real World Example Box that shows how Tesco, a large grocery and merchandiser retailers used Big Data to improve its inventory practices.

Copyright 2018 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. WCN 02-200-203



Introduction to Cost Management

FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING VERSUS COST MANAGEMENT: A SYSTEMS FRAMEWORK

A systems framework helps us understand the variety of topics that appear in the field of cost management. It also facilitates our ability to understand the differences between financial accounting and cost management. An **accounting information system** consists of interrelated manual and computer parts and uses processes such as collecting, recording, summarizing, analyzing, and managing data to transform inputs into information that is provided to users.

The accounting information system within an organization has two major subsystems: (1) the financial accounting information system and

CHAPTER



After studying this chapter, you should be able to:

- 1 Describe cost management and explain how it differs from financial accounting.
- 2 Identify the current factors affecting cost management.
- 3 Describe how management accountants function within an organization.
- 4 Understand the importance of ethical behavior for management accountants.
- 5 Identify the three forms of certification available to internal accountants.

OBJECTIVE 1

Describe cost management and explain how it differs from financial accounting.

(2) *the cost management accounting information system.* One of the major differences between the two systems is the targeted user.

Financial Accounting Information System

The **financial accounting** information system is primarily concerned with producing outputs for external users. It uses well-specified economic events as inputs, and its processes follow certain rules and conventions. For financial accounting, the nature of the inputs and the rules and conventions governing processes are defined by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB). Among its outputs are financial statements such as the balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows for external users (investors, creditors, government agencies, and other outside users). Financial accounting information is used for investment decisions, stewardship evaluation, activity monitoring, and regulatory measures.

The Cost Management Information System

The **cost management** information system is primarily concerned with producing outputs for internal users using inputs and processes needed to satisfy management objectives. The cost management information system is not bound by externally imposed criteria that define inputs and processes. Instead, the criteria that govern the inputs and processes are set by people in the company. The cost management information system has three broad objectives that provide information for:

- 1. Costing out services, products, and other objects of interest to management
- 2. Planning and control
- 3. Decision making

The information requirements for satisfying the first objective depend on the nature of the object being costed and the reason management wants to know the cost. For example, product costs that satisfy the FASB rules are needed to value inventories for the balance sheet and to calculate the cost of goods sold expense on the income statement. These product costs include the cost of materials, labor, and overhead. In other cases, managers may want to know all costs that are associated with a product for purposes of tactical and strategic profitability analysis. If so, then additional cost information may be needed concerning product design, development, marketing, and distribution. For example, pharmaceutical companies may want to associate research and development costs with individual drugs or drug families.

Cost information is also used for planning and control. It should help managers decide what should be done, why it should be done, how it should be done, and how well it is being done. For example, information about the expected revenues and costs for a new product could be used as an input for target costing. At this stage, the expected revenues and costs may cover the entire life of the new product. Thus, projected costs of design, development, testing, production, marketing, distribution, and servicing would be essential information.

Finally, cost information is a critical input for many managerial decisions. For example, a manager may need to decide whether to continue making a component internally or to buy it from an external supplier. In this case, the manager would need to know the cost of materials, labor, and other productive inputs associated with the manufacture of the component and which of these costs would vanish if the product is no longer produced. Also needed is information concerning the cost of purchasing the component, including any increase in cost for internal activities such as receiving and storing goods. Cost management has a much broader focus than that found in traditional costing systems. It is concerned not only with how much something costs but also with the factors that drive costs, such as cycle time, quality, and process productivity. Thus, cost management requires a deep understanding of a firm's cost structure. Managers must be able to determine the long- and short-run costs of activities and processes as well as the costs of goods, services, customers, suppliers, and other objects of interest. Causes of these costs are also carefully studied.

Different Systems for Different Purposes

The financial accounting and cost management systems show us that different systems exist to satisfy different purposes. As indicated, these two systems are subsystems of the accounting information system. The cost management information system also has two major subsystems: the *cost accounting information system* and *the operational control information system*. The objectives of these two subsystems correspond to the first and second objectives mentioned earlier for the cost management information system (the costing and control objectives). The output of these two cost systems satisfies the third objective (the decision-making objective).

The cost accounting information system is a cost management subsystem designed to assign costs to individual products and services and other objects as specified by management. For external financial reporting, the cost accounting system must assign costs to products in order to value inventories and determine cost of sales. Furthermore, these assignments must conform to the rules and conventions set by the SEC and the FASB. These rules and conventions do not require that all costs assigned to individual products be causally related to the demands of individual products. Thus, using financial accounting principles to define product costs may lead to under- and overstatements of individual product costs. For reporting inventory values and cost of sales, this may not matter. Inventory values and cost of sales are reported in the aggregate, and the under- and overstatements may wash out to the extent that the values reported on the financial statements are reasonably accurate.

At the individual product level, however, distorted product costs can cause managers to make significant decision errors. For example, a manager might erroneously deemphasize and overprice a product that is, in reality, highly profitable. For decision making, accurate product costs are needed. If possible, the cost accounting system should produce product costs that simultaneously are accurate and satisfy financial reporting conventions. If not, then the cost system must produce two sets of product costs: one that satisfies financial reporting criteria and one that satisfies management decision-making needs.

The **operational control information system** is a cost management subsystem designed to provide accurate and timely feedback concerning the performance of managers and others relative to their planning and control of activities. Operational control is concerned with what activities should be performed and assessing how well they are performed. It focuses on identifying opportunities for improvement and helping to find ways to improve. A good operational control information system provides information that helps managers engage in a program of continuous improvement of all aspects of their businesses.

Product cost information plays a role in this process but, by itself, is not sufficient. The information needed for planning and control is broader and encompasses the entire value chain. For example, every profit-making manufacturing and service organization exists to serve customers. Thus, one objective of an operational control system is to improve the value received by customers. Products and services should be produced that fit specific customer needs. (Observe how this affects the design and development system in the value chain.) Quality, affordable prices, and low post-purchase costs for operating and maintaining the product are also important to customers.

A second, related objective is to improve profits by providing this value. Welldesigned, quality products that are affordable can be offered only if they also provide an acceptable return to the owners of the company. Cost information concerning quality, different product designs, and post-purchase customer needs is vital for managerial planning and control.

FACTORS AFFECTING COST MANAGEMENT

Worldwide competitive pressures, deregulation, growth in the service industry, and advances in information and manufacturing technology have changed the nature of our economy and caused many manufacturing and service industries to dramatically change the way in which they operate. These changes, in turn, have prompted the development of innovative and relevant cost management practices. For example, activity-based accounting systems have been developed and implemented in many organizations. Additionally, the focus of cost management accounting systems has been broadened to enable managers to better serve the needs of customers and manage the firm's business processes that are used to create customer value. A firm can establish a competitive advantage by providing more customer value for less cost than its competitors. To secure and maintain a competitive advantage, managers seek to improve time-based performance, quality, and efficiency. Accounting information must be produced to support these three fundamental organizational goals.

Global Competition

Vastly improved transportation and communication systems have led to a global market for many manufacturing and service firms. Several decades ago, firms neither knew nor cared what similar firms in Japan, Brazil, Germany, and China were producing. These foreign firms were not competitors since their markets were separated by geographical distance. Now, both small and large firms are affected by the opportunities offered by global competition. Stillwater Designs, a small firm that designs and markets Kicker speakers, has significant markets in Europe. The manufacture of the Kicker speakers is mostly outsourced to Asian producers. At the other end of the size scale, Procter & Gamble, The Coca-Cola Company, and Mars, Incorporated are developing sizable markets in China. Automobiles, currently being made in Japan, can be in the United States in two weeks. Investment bankers and management consultants can communicate with foreign offices instantly. Improved transportation and communication in conjunction with higher quality products that carry lower prices have upped the ante for all firms. This global competitive environment has increased the demand not only for more cost information but also for more accurate cost information. Cost information plays a vital role in reducing costs, improving productivity, and assessing product-line profitability.

Growth of the Service Industry

As traditional industries have declined in importance, the service sector of the economy has increased in importance. The service sector now comprises approximately three quarters of the U.S. economy and employment. Many services—among them accounting services, transportation, telecommunications, and medical services—are exported to other countries such as India and Argentina. Experts predict that this sector will continue to expand in size and importance as service productivity grows. Deregulation of many services (e.g., airlines and telecommunications in the past and utilities in the present) has increased competition in the service industry. Many service organizations are scrambling to survive. The increased competition has made managers in this industry

Identify the current factors affecting cost management.

more conscious of the need to have accurate cost information for planning, controlling, continuous improvement, and decision making. Thus, the changes in the service sector add to the demand for innovative and relevant cost management information.

Advances in Information Technology

Four significant advances relate to information technology. One is intimately connected with computer-integrated applications. With automated manufacturing, computers are used to monitor and control operations. Because a computer is being used, a considerable amount of useful information can be collected, and managers can be informed about what is happening within an organization almost as it happens. It is now possible to track products continuously as they move through the factory and to report (on a real-time basis) such information as units produced, material used, scrap generated, and product cost. The outcome is an operational information system that fully integrates manufacturing with marketing and accounting data.

Enterprise resource planning (ERP) software has the objective of providing an integrated system capability—a system that can run all the operations of a company and provide access to real-time data from the various functional areas of a company. Using this real-time data enables managers to continuously improve the efficiency of organizational units and processes. To support continuous improvement, information that is timely, accurate, and detailed is needed.

Automation and integration increase both the quantity (detail) and the timeliness of information. For managers to fully exploit the value of the more complex information system, they must have access to the data of the system—they must be able to extract and analyze the data from the information system quickly and efficiently. This, in turn, implies that the tools for analysis must be powerful.

The second major advance supplies the required tools: the availability of personal computers (PCs), online analytic programs (OLAP), and decision-support systems (DSS). The PC serves as a communications link to the company's information system, and OLAP and DSS supply managers with the capability to use that information. PCs and software aids are available to managers in all types of organizations. Often, a PC acts as a networking terminal and is connected to an organization's database, allowing managers to access information more quickly, do their own analyses, and prepare many of their own reports. The ability to enhance the accuracy of product costing is now available. Because of advances in information technology, cost accountants have the flexibility to respond to the managerial need for more complex product costing methods such as activity-based costing (ABC). Even with the information technology, however, many firms have not embraced ABC because of its cost and complexity. Simplified and improved costing systems such as time-driven activity-based costing (TDABC) have been developed in order to deal with these issues, while preserving the benefits of enhanced accuracy.

ABC software is classified as online analytic software. Online analytic applications function independently of an organization's core transactions but at the same time are dependent on the data resident in an ERP system. ABC software typically interfaces with DSS software and other online analytic software to facilitate applications such as cost estimating, product pricing, and planning and budgeting. This vast computing capability now makes it possible for accountants to generate individualized reports on an as-needed basis. Many firms have found that the increased responsiveness of a contemporary cost management system has allowed them to realize significant cost savings by eliminating the huge volume of internally generated monthly financial reports.

The third major advance is the development of business analytics (related to or synonymous with Big Data or data analytics). One of the key differences between this third advance in information technology and the second advance just discussed is the expansion of business analytics to include external data sets and, at the same time, integrate the analysis with an organization's internal databases. Another key difference is the emergence of very large data sets—data sets so large that they exceed the ability of commonly used software to capture and analyze the relationships (hence the Big Data label that has become popular). Analyzing these big data sets may provide significant insights that will allow companies to do such things as reduce costs, improve quality, decrease cycle times, detect fraudulent activity, and enhance decision making. As might be expected, software for analyzing big data sets has been developed by companies such as Oracle and SAP; moreover, software such as Microsoft Power BI and Tableau provides similar analytical capabilities for individuals, small businesses, and large businesses.

The fourth major advance is the emergence of electronic commerce. Electronic commerce (e-commerce) is any form of business that is executed using information and communications technology. Internet trading, electronic data interchange, and bar coding are examples of e-commerce. Internet trading allows buyers and sellers to come together and execute transactions from diverse locations and circumstances. Internet trading allows a company to act as a virtual organization, thus reducing overhead. Electronic data interchange (EDI) involves the exchange of documents between computers using telephone lines and is widely used for purchasing and distribution. The sharing of information among trading partners reduces costs and improves customer relations, thus leading to a stronger competitive position. EDI is an integral part of supply chain management (value-chain management). Supply chain management is the management of products and services from the acquisition of raw materials through manufacturing, warehousing, distribution, wholesaling, and retailing. The emergence of EDI and supply chain management has increased the importance of costing out activities in the value chain and determining the cost to the company of different suppliers and customers.

Advances in the Manufacturing Environment

Manufacturing management approaches such as the theory of constraints and just-in-time have allowed firms to increase quality, reduce inventories, eliminate waste, and reduce costs. Automated manufacturing has produced similar outcomes. The impact of improved manufacturing technology and practices on cost management is significant. Product costing systems, control systems, allocation, inventory management, cost structure, capital budgeting, variable costing, and many other accounting practices are being affected.

Theory of Constraints The theory of constraints is a method used to continuously improve manufacturing and nonmanufacturing activities. It is characterized as a "thinking process" that begins by recognizing that all resources are finite. Some resources, however, are more critical than others. The most critical limiting factor, called a constraint, becomes the focus of attention. By managing this constraint, performance can be improved. To manage the constraint, it must be identified and exploited (i.e., performance must be maximized subject to the constraint). All other actions are subordinate to the exploitation decision. Finally, to improve performance, the constraint must be elevated. The process is repeated until the constraint is eliminated (i.e., it is no longer the critical performance-limiting factor). The process then begins anew with the resource that has now become the critical limiting factor. Using this method, lead times and, thus, inventories can be reduced.

Just-in-Time Manufacturing A demand-pull system, **just-in-time (JIT) manufacturing**, strives to produce a product only when it is needed and only in the quantities demanded by customers. Demand, measured by customer orders, pulls products through the manufacturing process. Each operation produces only what is necessary to satisfy the demand of the succeeding operation. No production takes place until a signal from a succeeding process indicates the need to produce. Parts and materials arrive just in time to be used in production. JIT manufacturing typically reduces inventories to much lower levels (theoretically to insignificant levels) than those found in conventional systems, increases the emphasis on quality control, and produces fundamental changes in the way production is organized and carried out. Basically, JIT manufacturing focuses on continual improvement by reducing inventory costs and dealing with other economic problems. Reducing inventories frees up capital that can be used for more productive investments. Increasing quality enhances the competitive ability of the firm. Finally, changing from a traditional manufacturing setup to JIT manufacturing allows the firm to focus more on quality and productivity and, at the same time, allows a more accurate assessment of what it costs to produce products.

Lean Manufacturing JIT is a critical part of a more comprehensive approach referred to as *lean manufacturing*. **Lean manufacturing** is the persistent pursuit and elimination of waste that simultaneously embodies respect for people. Waste is anything that does not add value to the end user (customer). As a result of eliminating waste, lead time is decreased, production processes are streamlined, and costs are decreased. Depending on the nature of the value streams created in lean manufacturing, a more accurate assessment of product costs may result.

Computer-Integrated Manufacturing Automation of the manufacturing environment allows firms to reduce inventory, increase productive capacity, improve quality and service, decrease processing time, and increase output. Automation can produce a competitive advantage for a firm. The implementation of an automated manufacturing facility typically follows JIT and is a response to the increased needs for quality and shorter response times. As more firms automate, competitive pressures will force other firms to do likewise. For many manufacturing firms, automation may be equivalent to survival.

The three possible levels of automation are (1) the stand-alone piece of equipment, (2) the cell, and (3) the completely integrated factory. Before a firm attempts any level of automation, it should first do all it can to produce a more focused, simplified manufacturing process. For example, most of the benefits of going to a completely integrated factory can often be achieved simply by implementing JIT manufacturing.

If automation is justified, it may mean installation of a computer-integrated manufacturing (CIM) system. CIM implies the following capabilities: (1) the products are designed through the use of a computer-assisted design (CAD) system, (2) a computer-assisted engineering (CAE) system is used to test the design, (3) the product is manufactured using a computer-assisted manufacturing (CAM) system (CAMs use computer-controlled machines and robots), and (4) an information system connects the various automated components.

A particular type of CAM is the flexible manufacturing system. Flexible manufacturing systems are capable of producing a family of products from start to finish using robots and other automated equipment under the control of a mainframe computer. This ability to produce a variety of products with the same set of equipment is clearly advantageous.

Customer Orientation

Firms are concentrating on the delivery of value to the customer with the objective of establishing a competitive advantage. Accountants and managers refer to a firm's **value chain** as the set of activities required to design, develop, produce, market, and deliver products and services to customers. As a result, a key question to be asked about any process or activity is whether it is important to the customer. The cost management system must track information relating to a wide variety of activities important to customers (e.g., product quality, environmental performance, new product development, and delivery performance). Customers now count the delivery of the product or service as part of the product. Companies must compete not only in technological and

manufacturing terms but also in terms of the speed of delivery and response. Firms such as FedEx have exploited this desire by identifying and developing a market the U.S. Postal Service could not serve.

Companies have internal customers as well. The staff functions of a company exist to serve the line functions. The accounting department creates cost reports for production managers. Accounting departments that are "customer driven" assess the value of the reports to be sure that they communicate significant information in a timely and readable fashion. Reports that do not measure up are dropped.

New Product Development

A high proportion of production costs is committed during the development and design stage of new products. The effects of product development decisions on other parts of the firm's value chain are now widely acknowledged. This recognition has produced a demand for more sophisticated cost management procedures relating to new product development—procedures such as target costing and activity-based management. **Target costing** encourages managers to assess the overall cost impact of product designs over the product's life cycle and simultaneously provides incentives to make design changes to reduce costs. **Activity-based management** identifies the activities produced at each stage of the development process and assesses their costs. Activity-based management is complimentary to target costing because it enables managers to identify the activities that do not add value and then eliminate them so that overall life cycle costs can be reduced.

Sustainable Development

Sustainable development is defined as development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs. Although absolute sustainability may not be attainable, progress toward its achievement certainly seems to have some merit. Many firms have discovered that paying attention to the environment can be economically beneficial—that it is possible to prevent pollution, reduce waste discharges, and reduce the dispersion of toxic substances while simultaneously increasing profits.



Sustainability

Ricoh Company, Ltd. is a multinational company headquartered in Japan. Ricoh produces cameras and office imaging equipment such as multifunction printers, copiers, laser printers, scanners, and digital duplicators. The company has earned a strong reputation for corporate social responsibility. In 2016, the Environmental Protection Agency selected Ricoh to receive the ENERGY STAR Partner of the Year Award. This award recognized Ricoh for its success in reducing greenhouse emissions by producing energy-efficient products. Ricoh is a good example of a company that has managed to balance environmental performance and economic performance. For example, in its 2010 Sustainability Report, Ricoh reported an Eco-Profit Ratio of 1.6 [Eco-Profit Ratio = (Total Economic Benefit)/(Total Environmental Conservation Cost)].

A positive relationship between environmental performance and economic performance provides a much different view than the traditional view. Under this new view, environmental pollution and contamination are a type of economic inefficiency, and therefore, efforts to enhance environmental quality improve a firm's profitability. Environmental managerial accounting can provide information vital to measuring the effects of environmental initiatives.

Total Quality Management

Continuous improvement and elimination of waste are the two foundation principles that govern a state of manufacturing excellence. Manufacturing excellence is the key to survival in today's world-class competitive environment. Producing products and services that actually perform according to specifications¹ and with little waste are the twin objectives of world-class firms. A philosophy of **total quality management**, in which managers strive to create an environment that will enable organizations to produce defect-free products and services, has replaced the acceptable quality attitudes of the past. The emphasis on quality applies to services as well as products.

Advocate Good Samaritan Hospital is an acute care facility located in Downers Grove, Illinois. In 2010, Good Samaritan received the Malcolm Baldridge National Quality Award in the health care category. This award is presented to organizations that demonstrate quality and performance excellence. Good Samaritan Hospital improved its mortality rate (actual mortality/expected mortality) from 0.73 in 2004 to 0.25 in 2010. Furthermore, the ratio of observed to expected renal failures decreased from 3.0 in 2007 to 0.86 in 2009. By creating a culture of patient safety, Good Samaritan Hospital decreased its malpractice expenses by 83 percent from 2005 to 2010, saving \$10 million.

BLE-T. F. OKLOP

The message is clear. Pursuing an objective of high quality promises major benefits. Cost management supports this objective by providing crucial information concerning quality-related activities and quality costs. Savings associated with quality initiatives can be reported as well. Managers need to know which quality-related activities add value and which ones do not. They also need to know what quality costs are and how they change over time.

Time as a Competitive Element

Time is a crucial element in all phases of the value chain. Firms can reduce time to market by redesigning products and processes, by eliminating waste, and by eliminating non-value-added activities. Firms can reduce the time spent on delivery of products or services, reworking a product, and unnecessary movements of materials and subassemblies.

Decreasing non-value-added time appears to go hand in hand with increasing quality. With quality improvements, the need for rework decreases, and the time to produce a good product decreases. The overall objective is to increase customer responsiveness.

¹ As reported at http://www.nist.gov/baldridge/award_recipients/good-samaritan_profile.cfm on August 1, 2011.